FILED 05-16-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP405-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

-V-

Case No. 2018 CF 1 (Dodge County)

MARTY S. MADEIROS, Defendant-Appellant.

> APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVCITION RELIEF, ENTERED IN LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARTIN DE VRIES PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BY:

Philip J. Brehm Attorney for Def.-App. Bar No. 1001823

23 West Milwaukee, #200 Janesville, WI 53548 Ph. 608/756-4994 philbreh@yahoo.com

issues regarding the erroneous admission of the
prior OWI convictions or the erroneous admission
of the other acts evidence regarding defendant's
prior hit and run conviction, then trial counsel was
ineffective
CONCLUSION34
CERTIFICATIONS34-35
INDEX TO APPENDIX36
CASES CITED
Chapman v. California,
386 U.S. 18 (1967)22
Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc.,
509 U.S. 579 (1993)32-33
Foley-Ciccantelli v. Bishop's GroveCondominium Ass'n, Inc.,
2011 WI 36,
333 Wis.2d 402,
797 N.W.2d 78918
Loy v. Bunderson,
107 Wis.2d 400,
320 N.W.2d 175 (1982)25
McCleary v.State,
49 Wis.2d 263,
182 N.W.2d 512 (1971)25
Michelson v. United States,
335 U.S. 469 (1948)19
Old Chief v. United States,
519 U.S. 172 (1997)19
C
State v. Alexander,
214 Wis.2d 628, 571 N.W.2d 662 (1997)19-21, 23
371 N.W.20 002 (1997)

State v. Billings, 110 Wis.2d 661,
329 N.W.2d 192 (1983)22
State v. Diehls,
2020 WI App 16,
391 Wis.2d 353,
941 N.W.2d 27220-23
State v. Ford,
2007 WI 138,
306 Wis.2d 1,
742 N.W.2d 6118
State v. Giese,
2014 WI 92,
356 Wis.2d 796,
854 N.W.2d 6873
State v. Hale,
2005 WI 7,
277 Wis.2d 593,
691 N.W.2d 63722
State v. Ingram,
204 Wis.2d 177,
554 N.W.2d 833 (Ct.App.1996)28-29
State v. Kandutsch,
2011 WI 78,
336 Wis.2d 478,
799 N.W.2d 86532
State v. Kourtidias,
206 Wis.2d 574,
557 N.W.2d 858 (1996)28-30
State v. Landrum,
191 Wis.2d 107,
528 N.W.2d 36 (Ct.App.1995)19

Page 5 of 36

State v	r. Norman,
	2003 WI 72,
	262 Wis.2d 506,
	664 N.W.2d 9722
State v	e. Payona,
	2009 WI 86,
	320 Wis.2d 348,
	768 N.W.2d 83226
State v	. Pharr,
	115 Wis.2d 334,
	340 N.W.2d 498 (1983)25
State v	. Sullivan,
	216 Wis.2d 768,
	576 N.W.2d 30 (1998)
State v	r. Thiel,
	2003 WI 111,
	264 Wis.2d 571,
	665 N.W.2d 30531, 33
State v	. Warbelton,
	2009 WI 6,
	315 Wis. 2d 253,
	759 N.W.2d 55720
Tri-Sta	ate Mechanical, Inc. v. Northland College,
	2004 WI App 100,
	273 Wis.2d 471,
	681 N.W.2d 30221
Webor	rg v. Jenny,
	2012 WI 67,
	341 Wis.2d 668,
	816 N.W.2d 19123
Whitty	v. State,
	34 Wis.2d 278,
	149 N.W.2d 557 (1967)18

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE ERRONEOUS ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT HAD FOUR PRIOR CONVICTIONS FOR OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED.

During postconviction proceedings, the trial court concluded there was no basis to order a mistrial (218:3-4, App. at 103-04).

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE REGARDING DEFENDANT PRIOR HIT AND RUN CONVICTION.

On 8/17/18, the trial court found this evidence was admissible (171:36). This evidence was presented during trial (170:101-02).

III. WHETHER DEFENDANT SHOULD BE GRANTED A NEW TRIAL BASED ON INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

On 2/25/22, the trial court concluded trial counsel had not been ineffective in any way during the proceedings (216:57, App. at 111-13).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defendant requests neither oral argument nor publication.

Filed 05-16-2022

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 1/2/18, defendant was charged in Dodge County Circuit Court with the commission of the offense of operating while intoxicated as a fifth offense, the offense allegedly committed on or about 12/30/17 (1). On 1/3/18, a preliminary hearing waiver form was filed on defendant's behalf (5). On 1/25/18, an information was filed which alleged two offenses, operating while intoxicated as a fifth offense and obstructing (13). On 1/31/18, defendant entered not guilty pleas to the charges (173:2).

On 2/8/18, motions to suppress were filed on defendant's behalf (16, 19). On 8/6/18, an amended information was filed which alleged three counts, operating while intoxicated as a fifth offense, operating with a prohibited blood alcohol concentration as a fifth offense and obstructing (37). On 8/17/18, a motion hearing was held regarding pretrial issues (171). On 9/12/18, a jury trial commenced (170). On 9/13/18, at the conclusion of trial, defendant was found guilty of the OWI offenses but not guilty of the obstructing charge (47, 73, 75, 169:185). On 12/12/18, a sentencing hearing was held (168). Defendant was sentenced to eight years in prison, with three years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision (168:40). Defendant filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief (118).

On 8/20/20, a motion for a new trial was filed on defendant's behalf (149). On 9/17/20, the trial court set a briefing schedule on the issue of whether a postconviction motion hearing was necessary (152). On 10/16/20, the State filed a brief arguing a postconviction motion hearing was not necessary and there was no basis for defendant to obtain relief (153). On 11/2/20, a reply brief was filed on defendant's behalf (154). Despite the briefing by both parties, the trial court did not issue a decision.

On 1/8/21, defendant wrote a letter to the trial court and asked it to issue a decision (155). The trial court did not respond. On 3/1/21, the defense again wrote a letter to the trial court and asked it to issue a decision (155). The defense indicated to the trial court the postconviction motion had been pending for six months and that a decision was necessary (155). The defense indicated a postconviction motion hearing was necessary (155). The defense indicated that if the court

was not going to rule on the motion, it should sign the defense's proposed order denying postconviction relief so relief could be sought in the court of appeals (155).

On 3/3/21, the trial court denied the postconviction motion without a hearing and without any analysis of the issues raised (157, App. at 114-15). On 3/12/21, a notice of appeal was filed in the trial court (160).

The matter was briefed for the court of appeals. On 12/9/21, the court of appeals issued an order of remand, indicating certain factual finding relevant to raised issues had to be made by the trial court to addressed the issues raised on appeal. On 2/25/22, a Machner hearing was held (216). On 3/7/22, the trial court entered an order denying defendant's postconviction motions for relief (218, App. at 101-04).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant Madeiros was charged with operating while intoxicated/while exhibiting a prohibited blood alcohol concentration and obstructing for conduct taking place in the early morning hours of December 30, 2017 (1). At 1:02 a.m., a Dodge County dispatcher was contacted about an abandoned vehicle along Highway 60 (170:106-07). An officer arrived at defendant's vehicle parked along Highway 60 at about 1:21 a.m. (70:221). Defendant was not with the vehicle (70:200-01). Around 2:07 a.m., an officer found defendant walking Wild Goose Trail (70:184).on Defendant's vehicle had stopped and he was walking for help (169:38). He told police he left his vehicle at about 8 p.m. (169:35-36). He testified had only consumed intoxicants after he last drove his vehicle (169:39-41). Blood was drawn from defendant at 3:37 a.m. (64). His blood had an alcohol concentration of .164 (64). Defendant's defense at trial was that he was not intoxicated when he drove his vehicle and that there was no evidence that he had operated while intoxicated (169:141-69).

On 8/17/18, a motion hearing was held (171). During the motion hearing, the State agreed defendant's four prior convictions for operating while intoxicated could not be introduced at trial (171:32). The State moved to admit evidence facts related to Dodge County Case 2017 CT 280, *State v. Marty Madeiros*, including that defendant was convicted of hit and run, that he was placed on probation, his license was revoked and that he was prohibited from consuming alcohol pursuant to the conviction (171:19-23). The State argued the information was relevant to the offense of obstructing and defendant's intent to mislead the investigating officer (171:19-23). The defense objected to the State's motion (171:27-29).

Without conducting a Sullivan¹ analysis, the trial court found the evidence was relevant "because basically it's part of the whole context of what Mr. Madeiros is talking about here. And it does relate to his intent to lie to police" (171:36, App. at 123).

Trial took place on September 12 and 13, 2018 (169, 170). At the commencement of the evidence, the court read stipulations of the parties, including:

Number three. The defendant's probation status on December 30, 2017. On December 30, 2017, defendant was placed on probation for hit and run in Dodge County, Wisconsin, case number 17 CT 280. Conditions of probation that were in effect on December 30, 2017, included a prohibition against violating any law as well as a prohibition against consuming or possessing alcohol.

Number four. The defendant's driving status on December 30, 2017. The defendant's operating privilege was revoked on December 30, 2017. Defendant did have a valid occupational operator's license that day. However, this occupational license only authorized driving on a Saturday between the hours of seven o'clock and ten o'clock a.m. and three o'clock p.m. and seven o'clock p.m. and only for the purposes of employment and homemaker duties. Restrictions placed on the occupational license included that defendant maintain absolute sobriety and not drive with an alcohol concentration of greater than .02.

¹ State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis.2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998).

Number five. The hit and run accident on June 22, 2017. On June 22, 2017 at 2:25 a.m., the defendant drove a 2014 Chrysler motor vehicle westbound on State Highway 33 in the Town of Beaver Dam, Dodge County, Wisconsin. The defendant's motor vehicle struck and damaged the rear of a westbound Chevrolet motor vehicle. Although the struck Chevrolet motor vehicle stopped along side the road, the defendant continued driving his damaged 2014 Chrysler motor vehicle for one mile before abandoning it at the side of the road. Both air bags were deployed in the 2014 motor vehicle. Defendant then fled the scene on foot and failed to call or report the crash to police. This hit and run incident was investigated by Deputy Duane Olbinski of the Dodge County Sheriff's Office and others. The defendant called Deputy Olbinski the day after the crash. The defendant told Deputy Olbinski that he walked away from his motor vehicle and that he walked three hours to his residence.

Finally, number 6, hit and run disposition. Defendant was convicted of hit and run in Dodge County, Wisconsin, case number 17 CT 280 on September 18, 2017, and placed on probation. The defendant was on probation for hit and run on December 30, 2017 (170:101-02).

During trial, E.L. testified as a witness for the State (160:125-67). She testified she had 20 years of law enforcement experience and that she had experience investigating drunk driving offenses (170:125-26). She testified she observed defendant's disabled vehicle along Highway 60 as she was headed westbound (170:126). The vehicle was partially in the roadway (170:126). She observed shoeprints leading from the vehicle to Goose trail (170:126, 129). She followed the prints with her vehicle northbound on the trail (170:129). Evidence was presented regarding her discussion with dispatch through the State's direct:

> Q: All right. So where it says D, that must mean dispatcher. E is Emily. Why don't we read through this for the record. I'll read the dispatcher part, okay?

A: Okay.

Q: The officer should be there shortly. Would you read your line then?

A: The only question I have is do you know did the driver call this in or a passer-by?

Q: That I don't know.

A: Okay. Like I said, I'm a retired cop. That the reason why I ask these questions. To me I've had people walk in the ditch-they're so damn drunk that they pass out.

Q: Okay. All right now, then there's a break and a subsequent conversation between you and the dispatcher. Do you see that?

A: Yes.

Q: All right. And what point in time are you having this conversation with the dispatcher? I mean, where are you you think when you're having this? Are you out on the trail at this point?

A: I'm just looking to see. Yeah, this is like-probably two minutes or a minute I got out on the goose trail, I could see that just what I say to the-

Q: Okay.

A: --dispatcher.

Q: All right. So let's read this for the jury. You start off there.

A: Okay. Hi ya' this is-I don't remember saying that but, hi ya', this is Emily calling back. Deputy Jackson showed up by the car.

Q: Yes.

A: Tell me I'm actually driving down the goose trail because the footprints are going northbound.

Q: Okay.

A: This guy is drunk, he's walking all over the place. But because it's so damn cold, I thought I would just drive to him.

Filed 05-16-2022

- Q: Drive to find him?
- A: Oh, drive to find him. Yes.
- Q: Okay. And the dispatcher says, okay. A: Forgive me, I don't have my glasses on. Q: Oh, I'm sorry.
- A: I don't have any in my pocket, but I'm okay. All right. If that's okay, you only have one deputy. It's not a big deal, I'll go find this guy.
- Q: You are headed north on the Wild Goose Trail.
- A: Yes. Yes, his footprints are heading north. There is only one set, of course, so- ...
- A: When I called back I asked the deputy-or the dispatcher, do you have another one on the way-referring to another officer. This guy, just by the way he's walking, he's drunk, disoriented or having a medical condition.
- Q: So let me ask you what you meant when you're telling the dispatcher, this guy, just by the way he's walking, he's drunk, disoriented or having a medical condition. What, what-
- A: He's not walking in a straight line like a sober person. This person was weaving back and forth with a person that-the appearance that someone who is impaired either by intoxicants, drugs, or a medical condition (170:140-43).

Later during cross-examination of the witness, the following took place:

- Q: Let's ask a little bit about that. You were an officer for 20 some years you said?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Okay. You were trained on how to handle OWI situations?
- A: Yes.

Q: Were you ever trained by that just looking at a vehicle's placement and footprints in the snow that you could conclude someone was drunk?

Filed 05-16-2022

A: Yes.

Q: You were trained that way.

A: Yes.

Q: Was that part of your field sobriety training?

A: Yes.

Q: That you could determine if somebody was drunk simply by the placement of their car?

A: Yes.

Q: You believe you could determine if somebody's drunk just by footprints in the snow?

A: If you're referring, if you're asking the question that way, the answer is going to be no. But, based on coming up on the car, seeing where it's parked partially on the roadway, the headlights, there's no taillights on, I look at the footprints, they're not walking straight in the snow. They walk down into the ditch. They lead back up out of the ditch and come on to the roadway. All indications to me-because I've had situations where I've come upon vehicles like this in my experience and the person walked away in an attempt to avoid getting caught for drunk driving.

Q: So from the very beginning on this kind of a basis, you came to the hypothesis that he's just drunk, correct?

A: I was referring to him being drunk. I wasn't, I couldn't say one hundred percent that he was drunk.

Q: Yeah.

A: But everything's there with my experience led me to believe that this person was intoxicated, yes.

Q: Because you had never seen Mr. Madeiros operate or drive the vehicle, did you?

A: Never, never met him in my life, no (170:156-58).

Filed 05-16-2022

Case 2021AP000405

On redirect, the prosecutor asked the witness why she believed the operator of the vehicle was intoxicated:

> Well first of all, the vehicle is parked partially in the roadway. Now I have stopped or come upon vehicles like that before who had mechanical problem, they couldn't get their vehicle off the road. I thought that when I saw the vehicle. But as I approached it, I didn't see any kind of mechanical problem with it. I also didn't walk all away around the vehicle simply because it's not my job to do that. I was just concerned for anybody else coming along at that time to not hit this vehicle because it was partially parked or stopped in the roadway. ... And based on my observation of no one being around, seeing those fresh footprints weaving down into the ditch, not walking down into the ditch, making a turn and coming back up like a sober person-forgive me for saying that, but his footprints and my experience of being an officer and making how many drunk driving arrests over the years, that this person appeared to be intoxicated. More intoxicated at that point in time as opposed to having a medical condition. So- (170:165-66).

Finally, she testified:

In all my years of being an officer and running into situations like this, because this is not the first time I have come upon a vehicle in the exact circumstances, it didn't turn out to be a medical condition, it turned out to be that person was under the influence (170:167).

During trial, a video of defendant's interaction with police was played during the direct testimony of Officer Ryan Jackson, Exhibit 2 (50:Exhibit 2 at 9:39, 170:205). Very early in the playing of the video, the prosecutor said:

> Okay. All right. I am having some problems here, judge because I meant to stop it. I'm sorry about that. But I'll try again in a minute. But let's talk about what we've seen so far. This conversation that's taking place, tell us where you are (50, 170:205).

Filed 05-16-2022

At this point in the trial, the State had just inadvertently played a statement by an officer that defendant had four prior OWIs (50:Exhibit 2 at 9:39). There was no reaction from defense counsel to this comment. There was no request for a sidebar from defense counsel. The prosecutor's direct examination of Officer Jackson's testimony was completed. When Officer Jackson concluded his testimony, the jury was excused for the day (170:231). The court asked the parties whether there was anything else that needed to be addressed (170:231). Both the State and defense indicated there was not (170:231).

It was not until the jury instruction conference at the conclusion of the evidence where the prosecutor's remarks were put in perspective on the record:

> Court: Jury has left and we're still on the record, we can go through instructions. I want to take a little break too. I did leave-there should be, what we talked about yesterday.

Defense: Special instructions.

Court: A special instruction. Now I think maybe what we need to think about is how that relates to Mr. Madeiros answer that he has four prior convictions. I don't want to make it too, you know, there might be a contrast or conflict there that we need to spend a little more time with-

Prosecution: Right.

Court: -- To make sure we have the proper language, but that's what I came up with yesterday.

Prosecution: And I think if you give this curative instruction close to the time you're talking about how these, you can consider these convictions but only for the purpose of credibility, and then just point them, you know, for no other reason.

Court: Okay.

Prosecution: I think that will work (169:77).

During the instructions conference, the following took place:

Court: Okay. Then let's read those two together. During the videos played at trial, you may have heard comments about prior convictions of the defendant. You may not consider these comments as proof that the defendant is guilty in this case. Follow that up with, evidence has been received that defendant has been convicted of crimes. This evidence was received solely because it bears on the credibility, etc. (169:89).

Thereafter, there was a discussion among the parties about perfecting the language of the instruction (169:89-91). When instructing the jury, the court read:

During the videos played at trial you may have heard comments about prior convictions of the defendant. You may not consider these comments as proof that the defendant is guilty in this case. The defendant has testified that he has been convicted of crimes. This evidence was received solely because it bears on the credibility of the defendant as a witness. It must not be used for any other purpose, and particularly, you should bear in mind that a criminal conviction at some previous time is not proof of guilt of the offense now charged (169:111).

At the conclusion of the trial, defendant was convicted of operating while intoxicated and operating with a prohibited blood alcohol concentration and found not guilty of obstructing (159:185-86).

Defendant filed a postconviction motion for a new trial, alleging errors by the court and ineffective assistance of counsel (149). The trial court initially denied the motion without a hearing (157, App. at 111-12). The court of appeals remanded so the trial court could make findings of fact.

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