Brief of Respondent Filed 08-

Filed 08-13-2021 Page 1 of 36

FILED 08-13-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2021AP405-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARTY S. MADEIROS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE DODGE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARTIN J. DEVRIES, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The sufficiency of the allegations in the motion, however, is not the end of the inquiry. "[A] circuit court has the discretion to deny a defendant's motion—even a properly pled motion . . . without holding an evidentiary hearing if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief." Sulla, 369 Wis. 2d 225, ¶ 30.

Typically, "[a] court properly exercises its discretion if it uses the correct legal standard and, using a demonstrated rational process, reaches a reasonable conclusion." *Pierce v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2007 WI App 152, ¶ 5, 303 Wis. 2d 726, 736 N.W.2d 247. "It is well established that a decision which requires the exercise of discretion and which on its face demonstrates no consideration of any of the factors on which the decision should be properly based constitutes an [erroneous exercise of] discretion as a matter of law." *S.P.A. ex rel. Ball v. Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance Co.*, 2011 WI App 31,

 \P 14, 332 Wis. 2d 134, 796 N.W.2d 874 (alteration in original) (citation omitted).

However, the independent review doctrine is well established law in Wisconsin. Under the independent review doctrine, "[i]f the trial court failed to articulate its reasoning, an appellate court will review the record independently to determine whether there is any reasonable basis for the trial court's discretionary decision." *State v. Davidson*, 2000 WI 91, ¶ 53, 236 Wis. 2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606. If there is such a basis in the record, the reviewing court should affirm the circuit court's ruling. *See Hunt*, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 4, 34, 45.

C. None of Madeiros's claims about trial counsel's ineffectiveness warranted an evidentiary hearing.

The circuit court summarily denied Madeiros's postconviction motion without articulating its reasons for doing so. But an independent review of the record shows that there was ample basis for the court's decision. This Court should therefore affirm.

1. Trial counsel did object to the admission of the statements about Madeiros's hit and run conviction, so the record conclusively demonstrates he did not perform deficiently.

Madeiros contended that trial counsel, Karl Green, was ineffective for "fail[ing] to demand a *Sullivan*" analysis by the court when admitting this evidence. (R. 149:17.) But Madeiros's motion was insufficiently pled on this point for two reasons: (1) the court did conduct a *Sullivan* analysis and (2) Green thoroughly contested admission of the hit and run at the pretrial motion conference, and Madeiros fails to suggest what counsel should have done differently to get the court to change its mind. Madeiros further cannot show prejudice because the court conducted the relevant analysis, meaning

Case 2021AP000405 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-13-2021 Page 24 of 36

there is no likelihood of a different result if Green did something differently.

First, the circuit court conducted a Sullivan analysis about this evidence, so Madeiros's claim that Green was somehow deficient in failing to request one must fail. (R. 171:23–46.) The court recognized that "this action with the hit and run cannot be admitted to show character. . . . Or to show that he acted in conformity therewith." (R. 171:23–24.) The State said it was offering the hit and run for context, state of mind, and intent to lie to the police. (R. 171:24–26.) The court then recognized that intent was an actual element of the crime for count three, and examined the parties' arguments about relevance of the hit and run to show all of these things. (R. 171:26–36.) Green argued that lies Madeiros told about the hit and run were being introduced to show a character flaw and that the evidence was unfairly prejudicial, but the court clearly disagreed. (R. 171:34-35.) After hearing this argument, it determined that it was "going to allow this evidence because it basically it's part of the whole context of what Mr. Madeiros is talking about here [during the interview]. And it does relate to his intent to lie to the police." (R. 171:36.)

The court did, however, recognize that there was some danger of prejudice in bringing this evidence in, and accordingly limited what Deputy Oblinski could say about it. (R. 171:38–39.) So, while the court did not make explicit findings about the third prong, it clearly considered the third prong and determined that the evidence's probative value was not outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and that the prejudicial effect could be mitigated. (R. 171:34–39.) That was sufficient to properly exercise its discretion under *Sullivan*. *See Movrich v. Lobermeier*, 2016 WI App 90, ¶ 11, 372 Wis. 2d 724, 889 N.W.2d 454 (holding that the court of appeals assumes that the trial court made the findings of fact

necessary to support its decision and accepts such implicit findings if supported by the record.).

Second, the record conclusively demonstrates that Green objected to the introduction of statements about Madeiros's hit and run conviction and argued extensively against their admission at the pretrial motion hearing. (R. 38:2; 171:27–39.) This was sufficient to preserve the objection for appeal. *State v. Wright*, 2003 WI App 252, ¶ 40, 268 Wis. 2d 694, 673 N.W.2d 386. Having made and preserved the objection, counsel cannot have been deficient.

Madeiros therefore failed to plead any facts to show he could prove that Green performed deficiently or that any alleged error could have possibly prejudiced him. Green, the State, and the circuit court clearly undertook a Sullivan analysis, so Madeiros cannot possibly show that Green's "failure" to request one was unreasonably deficient, because the alleged failure did not occur. (R. 149:17-18.) Nor did Madeiros plead any facts about what Green should have done differently at the hearing; he just made conclusory allegations that counsel was deficient and prejudiced the defense. (R. 147:17–18.) He did not offer any facts showing that if Green had done something differently at the hearing, the court would have refused to admit this evidence. (R. 147:17.) Accordingly, Madeiros's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to somehow preclude this evidence from being admitted was appropriately denied without a hearing. (R. 149:12–18; Madeiros's Br. 13–14.)

2. Madeiros did not plead sufficient facts to establish deficient performance nor prejudice regarding the jury's hearing that he had four prior convictions.

Madeiros next claimed that Green was ineffective for purportedly failing to "immediately move for a mistrial" when the jury heard a snippet from the video showing Madeiros's Case 2021AP000405 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-13-2021 Page 26 of 36

interview with police where one of the deputies referred to Madeiros's four prior OWIs. (R. 149:20.) But his motion was properly denied without a hearing because the record shows that Green reasonably asked for a curative instruction instead, and that Madeiros could not have been prejudiced by Green's failure to request a mistrial because the jury received the curative instruction and there was overwhelming evidence of Madeiros's guilt.

First, it is important to note that the jury was always going to learn that Madeiros had four prior convictions for something on his record because he decided to testify. (R. 169:54.) It was also going to learn that Madeiros was subject to a .02 blood-alcohol prohibition because the State charged him with a PAC violation. (R. 37:1–2.) It is common knowledge that the legal blood alcohol limit to drive is usually .08. The jury was likely already going to recognize that at least one of those convictions was probably an OWI.

Second, it is not clear that the jury actually heard that Madeiros had four prior OWI convictions. Deputy Jackson does mention it on the video at minute 9:41. (R. 50 Ex. 2 09:41.) However, the transcript suggests that the prosecutor muted that portion of the video. (R. 170:210–11 (showing that the video was paused at 09:27, resumed but muted a portion, then stopped again at minute 12:56).) The transcript says the tape was then played again from minute 12:56 and then stopped, but does not say when it was stopped. (R. 170:211–12.) Assuming the jury saw the rest of the video from 12:56 on, though, Madeiros's prior convictions were only mentioned again twice, and then not in any specific manner. What was said was this:

Deputy Jackson: Okay, are you willing to go through my tests, yes or no?

Madeiros: No, I...mean. I wasn't with my car. I wasn't even close to my car.

Jackson: Okay that's fine. You told me you were driving, I thought?

Madeiros: I was driving my car. But I had . . .

Deputy Oblinski: Now you said you weren't even close to your car?

Madeiros: But I wasn't.

Oblinski: The thing is you have been through this four other times. You know the right answers to give us, and you're trying to get those answers out, but you can't keep that story straight, unfortunately. Alright. And that is why he was trying to talk to you and you're not giving us straight answers. Okay, so like he said. Are you going to take any of these tests? We know you were driving at the time. And you were drinking at the time you were driving.

(R. 50 Ex. 2 17:18–17:44.) Then, after Madeiros tries to convince the officers for about a minute that he only drank while walking, Deputy Oblinski says "[t]he thing is you weren't otherwise you would have stayed with your vehicle. You have a long history of this." (R. 50 Ex. 2 18:39.) It is not clear the jury heard Deputy Jackson's specific statement that Madeiros had four OWIs.

However, even assuming the jury did hear Deputy Jackson mention that Madeiros had four OWI convictions, Madeiros's motion was inadequately pled on both prongs of *Strickland*, and that the record conclusively demonstrates he could not prevail on either prong even if his motion were sufficiently pled.

3. Green was not deficient for failing to move for a mistrial based on a novel argument that a jury hearing about prior OWIs is uncurable.

Green was not deficient in failing to move for a mistrial because even assuming the jury inadvertently heard Deputy Jackson's statement that Madeiros had four previous OWI convictions, because the record shows Green made a reasonable strategic decision about how to deal with the remark. *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 65, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 466, 904 N.W.2d 93 ("Trial strategy is afforded the presumption of constitutional adequacy.")

The transcript of the second day of jury trial shows that the court and the parties recognized the potential for the jury to improperly use these statements and discussed how to remedy the situation after the jury was excused the previous day. (R. 169:76–77.) The court agreed to give a curative instruction that the jury could only use Madeiros's prior convictions as evidence of his credibility as a witness and not for any other purpose. (R. 169:76–77, 89–91.) The court instructed the jury,

During the videos played at trial you may have heard comments about prior convictions of the defendant. You may not consider these comments as proof that the defendant is guilty in this case.

The defendant has testified that he has been convicted of crimes. This evidence was received solely because it bears upon the credibility of the defendant as a witness. It must not be used for any other purpose, and, particularly, you should bear in mind that a criminal conviction at some previous time is not proof of guilt of the offense now charged.

(R. 169:119-20.)

The request for a curative instruction rather than a mistrial was a reasonable way to deal with the jury potentially hearing about Madeiros's four previous OWIs. Juries are presumed to follow the instructions given to them. *State v. Truax*, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 362, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989). And if a curative instruction is given to a jury, any "possible prejudice to a defendant is presumptively erased

¹ Unfortunately, it appears that this discussion took place off the record. (R. 170:231–32.)

Case 2021AP000405 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-13-2021 Page 29 of 36

from the jury's collective mind." *State v. Bowie*, 92 Wis. 2d 192, 210, 284 N.W.2d 613 (1979). It was reasonable for Green to conclude that curing this error with an instruction rather than giving the State a second chance to prove its case at a new trial was a better course of action for Madeiros to take.

There is no law that states that a cautionary instruction cannot cure the error of a jury learning someone has prior OWIs, as Madeiros implied. (R. 149:18–21.) The case law the defendant cited did not support his argument. In State v. Diehl, 2020 WI App 16, 391 Wis. 2d 353, 941 N.W.2d 272, the question was not whether the jury learning of prior OWI convictions could be cured; it was whether counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's irrelevant questioning of a police officer about the reasons someone might have a low prohibited alcohol concentration. And though State v. Alexander, 214 Wis. 2d 628, 571 N.W.2d 662 established that evidence of prior OWIs is inadmissible when the defendant stipulates to that element, the court conducted a harmless error analysis in Alexander and concluded the error in allowing the jury to hear about the prior OWIs was harmless. Id. at 653. That shows that this type of error can be harmless even if it goes unremedied in any way—meaning it is also certainly capable of being cured through a curative instruction.

In essence, Madeiros claimed Green performed deficiently for failing to advance a novel argument that a jury's learning of prior OWI convictions can never be harmless nor are they curable. (R. 149:18–21.) But settled law is just the opposite: cautionary instructions are presumed to completely cure evidentiary errors absent evidence that the jury did not follow the instructions, and the jury learning about prior OWIs can indeed be harmless. *State v. Mink*, 146 Wis. 2d 1, 17, 429 N.W.2d 99 (Ct. App. 1988); *Alexander*, 214 Wis. 2d at 653. Caselaw is very clear that counsel cannot be found deficient for failing to raise novel arguments.

Case 2021AP000405 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-13-2021 Page 30 of 36

Breitzman, 378 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 49. Madeiros did not plead sufficient facts to establish that Green was deficient for failing to ask for a mistrial instead of a curative instruction.

4. The record conclusively demonstrates that Madeiros could not prove prejudice from Green's failure to move for a mistrial.

Madeiros also failed to show that he could prove prejudice at a hearing. Given the availability of the chosen route of giving a curative instruction and the brevity of the statements, it is not reasonably probable that the circuit court would have granted a motion for a mistrial had Green made one. Again, juries are presumed to follow the instructions given to them. Truax, 151 Wis. 2d at 362. And if a curative instruction is given to a jury, any "possible prejudice to a defendant is presumptively erased from the jury's collective mind." Bowie, 92 Wis. 2d at 210. Madeiros has not offered any explanation why this curative instruction was insufficient nor anything suggesting that the jury did not follow it. (Madeiros's Br. 27–29.) Indeed, the jury acquitted Madeiros of the obstruction charge, showing that the jurors followed the instructions and based their decision on their evaluation of the facts presented, and did not simply convict Madeiros after concluding he was a bad person. (R. 169:185.)

And using a curative instruction in lieu of a mistrial is the favored approach to dealing with evidentiary errors. "[N]ot all errors warrant a mistrial and 'the law prefers less drastic alternatives, if available and practical." *State v. Givens*, 217 Wis. 2d 180, 191, 580 N.W.2d 340 (Ct. App. 1998) (citation omitted). Thus, Madeiros cannot demonstrate that the court would have granted a motion for a mistrial, had Green made one.

Case 2021AP000405 Brief of Respondent Filed 08-13-2021 Page 31 of 36

Finally, the record conclusively demonstrates that even the erroneous admission of these statements was harmless because the evidence against Madeiros was overwhelming.

Madeiros's car was abandoned with a flat tire halfway off the road on a heavily-travelled highway. (R. 56; 170:126–27.) Three citizens called to report this to police. (R. 170:106–08.) The calls were all made between 1:02 a.m. and 1:18 a.m., which strongly suggested that the car was not abandoned there until shortly before the calls were made or else other travelers would almost certainly have called it in before then. (R. 170:106–08.) It was negative seven degrees outside and snowing, and yet Madeiros decided to leave the car and walk into the woods. (R. 170:179–81.)

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